1963

# James H. Starkey and James Harold Starkey v. Board of Education of Davis County School District : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(a) This is an action to restrain enforcement of a resolution of Defendant-Respondent barring Plaintiff-Appellant from participating in extra-curricular activities at Davis High School at Kaysville, Utah.

(b) Judgment was granted to defendant

in the lower court and plaintiff-appellant's complaint was dismissed on the ground that the resolution of defendant-respondent is not capricious, arbitrary or discriminatory and does not deny to plaintiff-appellant any federal or state constitutional guarantee of due process of the law or equal protection of the law. Plaintiff-appellant's complaint was dismissed on the further ground that he is over eighteen years of age.

(c) Plaintiff-appellant seeks an order of this Court reversing the judgment of the lower Court and ordering the lower Court to enter a decree in plaintiff's favor prohibiting the enforcement of the resolution of defendant and for such other relief as may be just and equitable in the premises.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Stipulations made in the lower Court establish: that Plaintiff-Appellant James

Harold Starkey is now a student at Davis High School, in the Davis County School District; that at the time the Resolution here contested was enforced against said plaintiff, he was a member of the wrestling team representing the high school; that he was Vice President of the Boy's Association, a student body office in the high school, and that he was on the Usher Squad in the high school. It was further stipulated that "except for some disability or ineligibility, James Harold Starkey would be expected to be among those who would try out for the baseball team at Davis High School." Stipulation was entered into that plaintiff was barred from participating in the above named activities as a result of the enforcement of a resolution of defendant dated January 8, 1962. (R. 2,3,4) Plaintiff was married December 22, 1962.

#### Pertinent portions of the Resolution

herein complained of read:

"The Board of Education hereby resolves that no married student shall be permitted to participate as a student body or class officer, on athletic teams or in those extracurricular activities which are separate and apart from the regular daily class schedules and expectations for graduation requirements... Furthermore, presently married students may continue in athletics only until the end of the 1962-63 school year..."  
(Emphasis added)

The resolution was dated January 8, 1962 and became effective as of that time.

#### STATEMENT OF POINTS

##### POINT ONE

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT AND NOT TO PLAINTIFF JAMES HAROLD STARKEY.

##### POINT TWO

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE RESOLUTION OF DEFENDANT OF JANUARY 8, 1962, IS NOT CAPRICIOUS, ARBITRARY OR DISCRIMINATORY AND DOES NOT DENY TO PLAINTIFF ANY FEDERAL OR



OF LAW OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW.

POINT THREE

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT OF PLAINTIFF JAMES HAROLD STARKEY ON THE GROUND THAT SAID PLAINTIFF IS OVER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE.

ARGUMENT

POINTS ONE AND TWO

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING JUDGMENT TO DEFENDANT AND NOT TO PLAINTIFF JAMES HAROLD STARKEY.

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RULING THAT THE RESOLUTION OF DEFENDANT OF JANUARY 8, 1962 IS NOT CAPRICIOUS, ARBITRARY OR DISCRIMINATORY AND DOES NOT DENY TO PLAINTIFF ANY FEDERAL OR STATE CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEE OF DUE PROCESS OF THE LAW OR EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAW.

Plaintiff contends that the Court erred in failing to grant judgment to the plaintiff

and bases his contention in part on Article X,

Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah:

"The legislature shall provide for the establishment and maintenance of a uniform system of public schools, which shall be open to all children of the State, and be free from sectarian control."

It cannot be maintained that the term "schools" refers only to purely academic pursuits which make up only a part of the total curriculum offered in the schools throughout the State. At a time when opportunity for acceptance and scholarships to colleges and universities may be greatly influenced by a student's participation in extracurricular activities at the secondary level, it is implausible to assert that these activities are not as much a part of the school as the purely academic disciplines. For a determination as to what activities are considered part of the educational system see Beard vs. Board of Education 16 Pac. 2d 900; see also re Ganopski,

2 A 2d 742, Penna. 1938; McNair vs. School

District, 87 Mont. 423, 288 Pac. 188; Belton vs. Gebhart, 87 A 2d 862 (Del.). See also Logan City School Dist. vs. Kowallis, 77 Pac. 2d 348, \_\_\_ Utah \_\_\_ (1938). See also Brown vs. Board of Education, 347 U.S. 483.

A further reading of Article X, Section 1 of the Utah Constitution advised that the "Legislature shall provide for the establishment and maintenance of a uniform system of public schools..." It cannot be contended that there is a "uniform system" when a student may be denied to participate in school activities simply because he is married.

Plaintiff contends that the Court erred in failing to grant judgment to the plaintiff and bases his contention on Article I, Section 7 of the Constitution of Utah and Amendment XIV to the Constitution of the United States: (Constitution of Utah, Article I Section 7)

**"No person shall be deprived of life,  
liberty or property without due process**

(Constitution of the United States, Amendment XIV, Section 1)

"...No State shall make or enforce any law which shall abridge the privileges or immunities of citizens of the United States; nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of Law; nor deny to any person within its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws."

The definition of "extra-curricular activities" by Superintendent Harold Holt (R. 46) as "any activity that did not tie in with courses that are being taken for credit and required for graduation" (emphasis added) is capricious, arbitrary, discriminatory and violative of the constitutional provisions above enumerated.

The definition of "extra-curricular activities" to include athletics, Usher Squad, the position of Vice President of the Boy's Association and to exclude band, debate, acappella choir, opera, school plays (R. 48, 49), is arbitrary, capricious, discriminatory and violative of the constitutional guarantees of due process of

enumerated.

Plaintiff further contends that the Court erred in failing to grant judgment to the plaintiff and bases his contention on Article I, Section 24 of the Constitution of Utah:

"All laws of a general nature shall have uniform operation."

The Resolution herein complained of not only discriminates against married students as a class but discriminates against certain married students within the class. The Resolution is per se not uniform in operation:

"...presently married students may continue in athletics...until the end of the 1962-63 school year."

The Resolution does not bar all married students from participation in activities but only those married after January 8, 1962 and therefore is not uniform in operation pursuant to Article I Section 24 as set forth above.

**The Resolution does not satisfy constitutional**

guarantees of due process of law and equal protection of the laws because it does not apply equally to members of the same class.

Plaintiff contends that the Court erred in failing to grant judgment to the plaintiff and argues that while the incidence of marriage among students may be decreased as a result of restriction of activities of married students pursuant to the Resolution complained of, contrariwise, by implication, the incidence of dropouts, illicit relations, abortions, unwed mothers, illegitimate children and "secret" marriages may increase as a result of the sanctions imposed against marriage.

### POINT THREE

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DISMISSING THE COMPLAINT OF PLAINTIFF JAMES HAROLD STARKEY ON THE GROUND THAT SAID PLAINTIFF IS OVER EIGHTEEN YEARS OF AGE.

a provision of Utah Law (Section 53-4-7 U.C.A. 1953) that public schools are free to children between the ages of six years and eighteen years of age, dismissed plaintiff's complaint on the ground that plaintiff had celebrated his eighteenth birthday and that defendant no longer had any duty to educate plaintiff or to extend to him any of the benefits of the public school system.

Plaintiff contends that the Court erred in dismissing plaintiff's complaint because he had reached eighteen years of age. Notwithstanding any provision of Section 53-4-7 U.C.A. 1953 to the contrary, when defendant extends the benefits and privileges of the public school system to all other eighteen year old students, it cannot in the next stroke deny the same to plaintiff. To do so is a violation of the due process of law provision of Article I Section 7 of the Utah Constitution

and due process of law, equal protection of the laws, and privileges and immunities of citizens of the United States as guaranteed by Amendment XIV to the Constitution of the United States. The proposition of defendant as sustained by the lower Court would mean, literally that the majority of the senior class would be dismissed from school midway through the academic year as each student reached his eighteenth birthday. Also implicit in the proposition sustained by the lower Court is that defendant Board of Education is misappropriating public funds by furnishing educational facilities free of charge to children after their eighteenth birthday because the authority to provide free education is a delegated authority and defendant has not been delegated authority to provide free education after age eighteen. Dismissal of plaintiff's complaint because he had



reached his eighteenth birthday constitutes prejudicial error.

### CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, plaintiff-appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse the judgment of the District Court and set it aside with instruction to enter an order restraining enforcement by defendant of the Resolution of January 8, 1962 against plaintiff; and for a judgment in favor of plaintiff for his costs, and such other relief herein as the Court may deem proper.