1963

James H. Starkey and James Harold Starkey v. Board of Education of Davis County School District : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

ARGUMENT

I.

THIS IS NOT A PROPER CASE FOR REMEDY BY WRIT OF PROHIBITION OR WRIT OF MANDAMUS. EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES LIE WITHIN THE DISCRETIONARY POWERS OF THE BOARD AND THERE IS NO QUESTION OF LACK OR EXCESS OF JURISDICTION. THE PROCEEDINGS COMPLAINED OF HAVE BEEN COMPLETED AND TERMINATED AND THERE IS NO LAW WHICH SPECIALLY ENJOINS THE PERFORMANCE OF ANY ACT NOW IN ISSUE BEFORE THE COURT.

As a preliminary consideration Respondent respectfully submits that Plaintiff has misconceived his remedy, if any he ever had. Neither of those writs is appropriate to operate in a field where administrative boards are invested with discretionary powers as are here involved. Writs of Prohibition and Mandate operate only within the realm of the absolute, not in the realm of discretion.

The historical nature and function of the Writ of Prohibition has been to arrest proceedings of an inferior court or tribunal wherein they threaten to make determinations upon matters over which they have no jurisdiction. In order for a Writ of Prohibition to be proper it must appear that there is a total want or an excess of jurisdiction, *Yearian v. Spiers*, 10 P. 609, 4 U. 385, and it will not issue to prevent or correct erroneous exercise of matters properly within the jurisdiction of the inferior court or tribunal, *Campbell v. Durand*, 115 P, 986, 39 U. 118; *Atwood v. Cox*, 55 P. 2d 377, 88 U. 437. In an article found at 37 Canadian Bar Review 294, (1959), the author, D. C. M. Yeardley, fellow of St. Edmond Hall, Oxford, states that "The only common and generally recognized ground for Prohibition both in England and Canada is that of defective jurisdiction." See also 42 Am. Jr., Prohibition, Sec. 19.

It is clear that the Legislature has given the local Board of Education the jurisdiction to concern itself with matters such as that now before the Court under the provisions of Section 53-6-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, wherein it is stated that "Every Board of Education . . . may do all things needful for the maintenance, prosperity and success of the schools, and the promotion

of education and may adopt by-laws and rules for its own procedure, and *make and enforce all needful rules and regulations for control and management of the public schools of the district*'' (Italics ours). When an inferior court or tribunal is acting within the scope of its jurisdiction a Writ of Prohibition is not a proper substitute and cannot be converted into a Writ of Review, particularly, when there are other plain, speedy and adequate remedies at law available to the applicant as there are in this case, *Oldroyd v. McCrea*, 235 P. 580, 65 U. 142; *Campbell Building Co. v. District Court*, 63 P. 2d 255, 90 U. 552, 42 Am. Jur. 165, Prohibition, Section 30.

In addition to denying a Writ of Prohibition on the Grounds that there is no question of excess or lack of jurisdiction and that there are other plain, speedy and adequate remedies available to Plaintiff, the Writ of Prohibition should be denied on the further ground that it is the office of Prohibition to "arrest the proceedings of any tribunal, corporation, board of person," Rule 65B (b) (4), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure. This statutory provision is in keeping with the judicial concept that the Writ of Prohibition is preventive rather than corrective, and should issue only to prevent the commission of a future act, and not to undo one which has already been performed, *Martineau v. Crabbe*, 150 P. 301, 46 U. 237; *Sheriff v. Board of Commissioners*, 268 P. 783, 71 U. 593. The facts, stipulations and findings now before the Court in this matter clearly reveal that the Board of Education has completed all actions by and through which the Resolution was adopted and applied with respect to Plaintiff

and Writ of Prohibition is therefore an improper remedy in the premises.

It is further submitted on behalf of the Board of Education that a Writ of Mandamus is not a proper remedy for Plaintiff to pursue in the matter now before the Court. Rule 65B (b) (3), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, requires that Mandamus shall issue only to compel performance of an act which the law specially enjoins as a duty resulting from an office. Mandamus should never be granted in questionable situations, *Snyder v. Emerson*, 57 P. 300, 19 U. 319, and the legal right to require a person, court or tribunal to proceed and the legal duty to do so must be free from doubt, *Hoffman v. Lewis*, 87 P. 167, 31 U. 179; *Haslam v. Morrison*, 190 P. 2d 520, 113 U. 147; *Hamblin v. State Board of Land Commissioners*, 187 P. 178, 55 U. 402; *State v. Moorehouse*, 112 P. 169, 38 U. 324. Where a Writ of Mandamus is sought to compel public officers to do certain acts, the right of the Plaintiff to have the act performed must be clear, and the corresponding duty upon the officer to be required to act must be correspondingly plain and clear, and not open to serious question, *Woodcock v. Board of Education*, 187 P. 181, 55 U. 458, 10 A.L.R. 181; *Towler v. Warenski*, 202 P. 374, 59 U. 171. If the matter sought to be compelled is within the discretionary jurisdiction of the inferior tribunal or board, Writ of Mandamus may issue to compel such board to act on the matter but not to control its jurisdiction while acting or to compel performance in a particular way nor to reverse the judgment when it has been made, *Tuttle v. Board of Education*, 294 P. 294, 77 U. 270; *Hathaway v. McConkie*, 38 P. 2d 300, 85 U. 21. Re-

spondent Board of Education submits that there is no law specially enjoining the Board of Education to provide Plaintiff with extracurricular activity and that this matter is entirely within the discretion of said Board of Education and that Mandamus is not a proper remedy in the premises.

The Board of Education therefore, respectfully submits that upon the reasoning and authority cited above, neither a Writ of Prohibition nor a Writ of Mandamus is a proper remedy for Plaintiff to pursue in the matter now pending before the Court.

II

EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES ARE PRIVILEGES ESTABLISHED SEPARATE AND APART FROM THE RIGHT TO EDUCATION AND MAY BE ESTABLISHED OR CONDUCTED SOLELY WITHIN DISCRETIONARY POWERS OF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION.

Plaintiff assails what he claims to be Superintendent Holt's definition of "Extracurricular Activities" and then calls that definition "capricious, discriminatory and violative of the Constitution." Plaintiff stands on false ground. We are not in this case to determine whether or not Superintendent Holt's definition of "Extracurricular Activities" is or is not accurate. We are considering the validity of the action of the Board as set forth in the resolution. This court has already, in the *Beard* case, *infra*, decided the nature of extracurricular activities.

Although Superintendent Holt's definition is not determinative of these issues it should be noted that Plaintiff has inaccurately set forth Superintendent Holt's position.

Appellant contends that Superintendent Holt included athletics, Usher Squad and the position of Vice President of the Boy's Association within his definition of extracurricular activities and excluded Band, Debate, A Cappella Choir, Opera and School Plays. An accurate reading of the record clearly shows that Band, Debate, A Cappella Choir, Opera and School Play are activities which are either primarily or entirely carried on in the classroom. As such they are not considered by Superintendent Holt to be extracurricular activities. However, there may be certain facets to these endeavors which may be properly considered as extracurricular activities. For example, the band may play at school games or the A Cappella choir may give an evening Christmas program away from the school. Superintendent Holt makes it clear that students who participate in these endeavors receive their credit toward graduation for the work which they perform in the classroom rather than for the participation in the outside activities (R. 52, 53). Superintendent Holt's testimony shows that when these activities are held as a class they are not considered extracurricular activities (R. 48, 49) and that only those incidental activities held outside the class, and having no bearing on grade or credit, are properly to be considered as extracurricular activities.

In *Beard v. Board of Education*, 16 P. 2d 900, 81 U. 51, this Court recognized the place of extracurricular

activities in a modern school system. In speaking of the establishment of extracurricular activities as desirable supplements to the required school curriculum, this Court stated at page 904:

“These are useful and wholesome preventive measures which save children from delinquency and the state from additional expense in connection with penal institutions. *Such activities, so far as conducted in connection with the school, are usually termed extra curricular activities, for the reason that, while they are necessary in a modern school system, they are in excess of the minimum requirements of a school curriculum.*” (Italics ours.)

In referring to certain sections of the Compiled Laws of Utah, 1917, which used the term “supervised recreational activity,” the Court stated:

“... these are activities which the Board itself *may* inaugurate and make provisions for proper supervision. The term “recreational activity” includes in its general meaning games, sports and plays . . . and dances. All such activities are included within the meaning of the term “entertainment.” *The Board may, but is not required to provide these activities and supervise them in the interest of public morals and welfare.* (Italics ours.)

In determining that it was proper for the Board of Education to permit the establishment of an organized Student Body through which extracurricular activities were organized and administered, the court said at page 906:

“While not required by statute as part of the minimum educational program. . . *it is within the*

power, of the Board of Education to *authorize* and maintain such an organization as one of the required educational activities and as part of the educational system of the district. This it may do pursuant to the provisions of Section (53-6-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953,) wherein it is empowered "to do all things needful for the maintenance, prosperity and success of the schools and the promotion of education." (Italics ours.)

"The evidence shows that the student body organization was authorized by the Board of Education of the district, and that the constitution adopted by the student body had the sanction and approval of the Board."

Thus, the Court held that the Board of Education *may* allow the establishment of a student body organization through which extracurricular activities *may* be planned and administered and so stated at page 907:

"That the student body organization and proper activities thereof are part of the educational system of the district we think admits of no doubt. The scope of its activity, as indicated by the constitution (referring to the student body constitution), shows a purpose closely related to the school curriculum, *although not required thereby*, and is certainly within what is now regarded by all educators as a modern educational system." (Italics ours.)

The holding of *Beard v. Board of Education* is, therefore, that the local Boards of Education may permit and allow the establishment of extracurricular activities even though such a program is not required to be established. The case further holds that the establishment of such a program is discretionary with the Board

of Education and the Court so indicates at page 909 of its opinion:

“It does not follow, however, that every activity that may be engaged in by the student body is part of the modern educational program. The student may not do more than the Board of Education may authorize or approve, or do anything that is prohibited by law.”

We call the Court’s attention to the following additional portions of this Court’s holding in the *Beard* case which are very pertinent here:

“* * * It is well established that, if the action of the board of education is within the powers conferred upon it by the Legislature, and pertains to a matter in which the board is vested with authority to act, the courts will not review the action of such a board to substitute its judgment for that of the board as to matters within its discretion.

* * * *

“ ‘The courts will not interfere with the exercise of discretion by school directors in matters confided by law to their judgment, unless there is a clear abuse of the discretion, or a violation of law. So the courts are usually disinclined to interfere with regulations adopted by school boards, and they will not consider whether the regulations are wise or expedient, but merely whether they are a reasonable exercise of the power and discretion of the board. Acting reasonably within the powers conferred, it is the province of the board of education to determine what things are detrimental to the successful management, good order, and discipline of the schools and the rules required to produce these conditions. The presumption is always in favor of the reasonable-

ness and propriety of a rule or regulation duly made. The reasonableness of regulations is a question of law for the courts.' ”

* * * *

“The court, in its findings of fact, found that the student body was organized by the students of the school by and with the permission of the board of education ‘for the government of themselves and their carrying on of student social and entertainment activities not contemplated by the school curriculum,’ and that the dances, motion picture shows, lyceum lectures, and musicales, games, and athletic contests about which complaint is made are conducted by the student body, and that a fee is charged for admission to such entertainments, and that no part of the income goes to the school treasury to cover the cost of heating, lighting, janitorial, and other services.” (Italics ours).

“That the student body organization and proper activities thereof are part of the educational system of the district we think admits of no doubt. The scope of its activity, as indicated by the constitution, shows a purpose closely related to the school curriculum, although not required thereby, and is certainly within what is now regarded by all educators as a modern educational system.” (Italics ours.)

The views of *Beard v. Board of Education*, Supra, have been enunciated in other courts of the United States. In *Cochrane v. Board of Education*, 103 N.W. 2d 569 (Michigan, 1960), the Supreme Court of Michigan affirmed the decision of a lower court which had held valid a school resolution prohibiting married students from participating in extracurricular activities. In the affirming opinion of Justice Kavanaugh it was recog-

nized that extracurricular activities may be furnished but that there is no obligation to do so. In speaking of inter-scholastic games, particularly football, Justice Kavanaugh stated:

“Football contests between schools are extracurricular in nature. The right to provide such activity is clearly recognized. Constitutional provisions and statutes giving the right to receive education and physical training cannot properly be said to include inter-scholastic sports as necessary requirements of education.”

The Board of Education recognizes its responsibilities and duty to furnish students with physical education. However, a distinction should be made between physical education included within the curriculum and inter-school or inter-scholastic athletics which are considered extracurricular. The distinction is set forth in *State v. Lawrence Circuit Court*, 162 N.E. 2d 250 (Indiana, 1959) wherein it is stated:

“The difference between physical education or physical training included within the curriculum of public schools and inter-school or inter-scholastic athletics, which are generally considered extracurricular, is discussed in an authoritative opinion by Senator John W. Bricker when he was Attorney General of Ohio . . . from which we quote:

“ . . . in the light of the holding and reasonings of these Courts, I am of the opinion that the term ‘physical education’ which the statutes of Ohio direct shall be included in the curriculum of the public schools of Ohio does not include what is commonly called ‘inter-scholastic athletics’, that is, the play-

ing of games in competition by picked teams representing the several schools. Inter-scholastic athletics is not a proper public school activity within the scope of 'physical education' as the term is used in our statutes."

The Respondent Board of Education makes this same differentiation between physical education and extracurricular activities. The testimony of Superintendent Holt shows that requirements are fulfilled and credit given toward graduation solely on the basis of physical education which is performed during school hours and not for participation in extracurricular athletic activities which take place after the close of school (R. 52).

State v. Lawrence Circuit Court, Supra, held that the right to go to public school and receive education and training does not include the right to participate in inter-scholastic games and the court went on to say in its opinion:

"We believe the foregoing authorities are decisive of the question before us and that the right of Plaintiff under the Indiana Constitution and Statutes to go to the public schools and receive education and training cannot properly be said to include inter-scholastic sports and games, viz: inter-school basketball as may be engaged in between picked teams of the various public, private and parochial schools constituting the membership of relator athletic association."

A similar problem confronted the Supreme Court of Washington in *Wayland v. Board of School Directors*, 86 P. 642, wherein the Board of Education had adopted a rule that all students thereafter becoming members

of any high school fraternity should be denied all the privileges of the high school except those of the classroom. In affirming a decision of the lower court upholding the Resolution of the Board of Education the court said at page 643:

“It will be observed that no attempt is being made by the respondents to deny appellant any instruction afforded by class work or by the required curriculum of the school. He is only denied certain other *privileges* such as participation in *athletic*, literary, military, musical, or *class organization*. In other words, the respondent made it optional with appellant to determine whether, against the known wishes of the school authorities, he would continue his membership in said secret society, and thereby forfeit participation in the privileges above mentioned, which were no part of the class or curriculum, or whether by complying with the adopted rules, he would elect to enjoy the privileges of which he is now deprived.” (Italics ours.)

The Court also stated at page 644:

“Respondents are only seeking to prevent appellant and his associates from dictating the terms on which they shall enjoy certain privileges which are merely incidental to the regular school work, and this they have authority to do.”

Based upon the record and authority referred to herein, Respondent Board of Education submits that extracurricular activities are supplementary to the required curriculum, but that they are not required, and if they are made a part of the curriculum, which these

are not, they would then be made so solely within the discretionary powers of the Board of Education.

Some of the cases cited by appellant are not discussed by us in this brief for the reason that the Court will itself immediately observe that they pertain primarily to racial problems which are not in point here or factual situations unrelated to our issue, or are cited by ourselves in this brief as authorities for the position of Respondent.

III.

IF THE BOARD OF EDUCATION SEES FIT TO INSTITUTE A PROGRAM OF EXTRACURRICULAR ACTIVITIES IT HAS THE DUTY, POWER, AUTHORITY AND JURISDICTION TO EXERCISE ITS DISCRETION IN PROMOTING THE WELFARE AND EFFICIENCY OF THE SCHOOL SYSTEM BY ESTABLISHING RULES AND REGULATIONS FOR THE PURPOSE OF GUIDANCE IN DETERMINING UNDER WHAT CONDITIONS AND CIRCUMSTANCES STUDENTS MAY AVAIL THEMSELVES OF THOSE PRIVILEGES.

The Board of Education of the Davis County School District recognizes the supplementary benefits which may be derived from the institution of a program of extracurricular activities and has seen fit to exercise its discretion in a manner providing for the establishment of such a program. Once such a program is established and these activities provided, it is proper for the board to supervise them in the interest of public morals and welfare. As stated above, Section 53-6-20, Utah

Code Annotated, 1953, gives the Board of Education the power to "do all things needful for the maintenance, prosperity and success of the schools, and the promotion of education; and (to) make and enforce all needful rules and regulations for the control and management of the public schools of this District."

Section 53-14-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides as follows:

"It shall be the duty of all district boards of education, boards of education of the cities of the first and second class, forums, and classes supported in whole or in part by the state of Utah to provide that persons employed to give instruction and guidance to young people under eighteen years of age, shall so arrange and present their instruction, *guidance and plans for pupil and student thinking, discussion, decision and activity* as shall give special emphasis to common honesty, morality, courtesy, obedience to law, respect for the Constitution of the United States and the Constitution of the State of Utah, respect for parents and home, the dignity and necessity of honest labor and other skills, habits and qualities of character which will *promote an upright and desirable citizenry and which will better prepare our youth for a richer, happier life.* (Italics ours.)

The responsibility of establishing rules and regulation for participation in extracurricular activities is, therefore, properly within the province of the local Board of Education. Should they decide, in the exercise of the discretion vested in them under Section 53-6-20, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that the prosperity, success and welfare of the schools and the achievement of those

goals set forth in Section 53-14-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, can more properly be served and achieved by not allowing married students to participate in these extra-curricular activities, then the Board of Education has exercised the discretion vested in it by the Constitution and Statutes of the State of Utah and People of Davis County and such discretionary determination should not be interfered with by the Courts of this state as was so well stated by this court in the *Beard* case and in many other cases of which the following are a few:

State v. Packer Corporation, 77 U. 500, 297 P. 1013.

Patterick v. Carbon Water Conservancy Dist., 106 U. 55, 145 P. 2d 503.

Hansen v. Public Employees Retirement System, 122 U. 44, 246 P. 2d 591.

The Kent Club v. Toronto, 6 U. 2d 67, 305 P. 2d 870.

Davis v. Ogden City, 117 U. 315, 215 P. 2d 616.

State v. Twitchell, 8 U. 2d 314, 333 P. 2d 1075

Abrahamson v. Board of Rev. of Ind. Comm., 3 U. 2d 289, 283 P. 2d 213.

All education, whether curricular or extracurricular, is, and must be based upon the classification of individuals in accordance with their *past growth and development and their present potentialities* as was stated by this court in the *Kowallis* case, *infra*. No doubt, even plaintiff would agree that during his years in the grade school, Junior High School and High School he was studying and developing, mentally and physically, along

with other individuals of his age who, up until his marriage, had had similar experience as to background and training. The “uniform system” that the Utah Constitution requires, has inherent within it, a demand for classification of the students on the basis of past experience to insure *uniform* instruction to all students in that age group.

Would plaintiff contend that a “uniform system” required that all students be permitted to play baseball regardless of age, sex or aptitude? Would plaintiff contend that a child of tender age should, if he demanded, be permitted to attend the classes given to more mature students with reference to moral problems as encountered during adolescence? The proposition answers itself. There has to be classification of students for study and there likewise should be classification of participants in extracurricular activities. Under the law the Board of Education is vested with exclusive authority to exercise its discretion in determining these classifications and in determining the types of individuals who may qualify for the various activities.

Having exercised its discretion the Court should not disturb the decision unless it is manifestly wrong, unreasonable, arbitrary or capricious.

In dealing with a matter almost identical with that now before the Court, the Supreme Court of Michigan affirmed this principle in *Cochrane v. Board of Education*, Supra, wherein Justice Kavanaugh stated:

“It necessarily follows that those in charge of the school must be allowed to judge and to determine

the propriety of allowing married students to participate in the playing of football on the high school team. It is manifest that those in charge of the schools, and not the Courts, are better qualified to determine when and under what circumstances a student may be allowed to play football under the banner of the high school team.”

It is Respondent's belief that the statutes of the State of Utah referred to above confer upon it the duty, power, authority and jurisdiction to exercise its discretion in the matter now before the court and that said discretion has been properly exercised by the adoption of the Resolution of January 8, 1962 and that the Court should not substitute its discretion for that of the Board of Education. The people of Davis County have seen fit to vest this discretionary power within the Board of Education through the exercise of Democratic election procedures. And any objection to the manner of exercising this discretion may be remedied in that same manner. *Allen v. Board of Education*, 236 P. 2d 756, 120 U. 556.

IV.

THE RESOLUTION OF JANUARY 8, 1962 WAS ADOPTED AS AN EXERCISE OF THE DISCRETION VESTED IN THE BOARD OF EDUCATION BY THE CONSTITUTION AND STATUTES OF THE STATE OF UTAH AND PEOPLE OF DAVIS COUNTY FOR THE PURPOSE OF PROMOTING THE WELFARE AND EFFICIENCY OF THE SCHOOLS WITHIN THE DAVIS COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT AND WAS NOT UNREASONABLE, ARBITRARY, CAPRICIOUS OR AN ABUSE OF

THE DISCRETION VESTED IN SAID BOARD.

It has been pointed out by reference to Sections 53-6-20 and 53-14-10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, that the local Board of Education has been vested with the power, authority, jurisdiction and discretion to contemplate and cope with educational problems and considerations which may arise on a local level.

Whether we adopt the doctrine of John Dewey that the general objective of an education is a well-rounded, happy life in order to get the most out of our existence or the edict of Admiral Hyman Rickover that we must concentrate our education on the sciences necessary to survival, we should agree with *all* educators that one of the major problems of our age is the "Drop Out" of high school students, and one of the prime factors contributing to these "drop outs" is teenage marriages between high school students.

What action should be taken to meet this challenge and who should take the action?

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